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EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 

Carro & Carro Enterprises, Inc. (CCE) 
NRC Inspection Report No. 99990001/2010003 

 
This was an unannounced special safety inspection to review the temporary loss of a portable 
nuclear moisture density gauge containing radium-226.  The scope of the inspection included a 
tour of the temporary field office where the gauge had been stored, interviews with 
representatives from the company involved in the possession of the gauge and the follow-up to 
the reported loss of the gauge, and a review of records related to the possession and later 
transfer of the gauge to an NRC licensee. 
 
Program Overview & Event Report 
 
CCE had been licensed by the Radiation Control Commission of the Health Department of the 
Commonwealth of Puerto Rico (RCCPR), License No. PR-2005-02.  The license authorized the 
possession and use of one Seaman Nuclear Corporation (Model C-300) portable moisture 
density gauge containing a radium-226 (Ra-226) sealed source; however, the license had 
expired on December 16, 2008.  The authority to license the gauge was transferred to the NRC 
with the 2005 Energy Policy Act (EPAct) and possessors in Puerto Rico were required to apply 
for an NRC license by November 30, 2008.  CCE did not apply for an NRC license to possess 
the gauge.   
 
With respect to the temporary loss of the gauge, CCE first contacted the Commonwealth of 
Puerto Rico, whom informed CCE that it needed to notify the NRC.  CCE notified NRC by 
telephone on June 14, 2010  (NRC Event Notification Report No. 46007),  and submitted a 
follow-up 30-day written report to NRC on July 9, 2010, which was received on July 16, 2010 
(ML102160136).  The report stated that CCE’s gauge was stolen from their temporary field 
office, most likely when maintenance activities on May 26, 2010, had disabled the door locks, 
thus allowing unauthorized individuals access to the gauge. 
 
Based upon the results of the inspection, one apparent violation of NRC requirements was 
identified regarding CCE’s failure to obtain a specific license to own, possess, and use the 
gauge containing Ra- 226, as required by 10 CFR 30.3.  Also, NRC informed CCE of additional 
NRC requirements regarding security for the gauge (10CFR30.34(i)), and for promptly reporting 
the theft of the gauge to NRC (10 CFR 20.2201).  CCE had failed to comply with these 
requirements; however, these safety concerns were not identified as separate apparent 
violations, because CCE was not an NRC licensee and because they were subsumed by the 
violation of 10 CFR 30.3.   
 
Corrective Actions 
 
On June 29, 2010, CCE transferred possession of their gauge to an authorized NRC licensee. 
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REPORT DETAILS 
 

I. Organization, Management Oversight, and Scope of the Program 
 

 
a. Inspection Scope 
 

The inspector reviewed the organizational chart and interviewed the Radiation Safety 
Officer (RSO), Dawin Lozada, and the company President, Juan Carro, to determine the 
size, scope, and management oversight of its radiation safety program and to determine 
the basis for Carro & Carro Enterprises, Inc. (CCE) failure to submit a request to NRC for 
a license to possess and use its portable nuclear moisture density gauge. 
 

b. Observations and Findings 
 

CCE was a road construction company that provided services to the Commonwealth of 
Puerto Rico.  CCE was licensed (License No. PR-2005-02) by the Radiation Control 
Commission of the Health Department of the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico (RCCPR), 
to possess and use one Seaman Nuclear Corporation Model C-300 portable gauge 
(gauge) containing Ra-226 for the purpose of testing the physical properties of materials. 
CCE had acquired the gauge on October 2, 2005.  The gauge was used intermittently on 
road construction projects between October 2, 2005 and August 21, 2008, when its use 
was ceased and the gauge was placed in storage in CCE’s temporary field office.   The 
license expired on December 16, 2008. 
 
CCE had designated a project superintendent as the RSO, who was charged with the 
responsibility of implementing its radiation safety procedures, including ensuring 
compliance with regulatory requirements and maintenance of the records required by the 
regulations.  In addition to the RSO, the licensee had contracted with an outside 
consultant to provide technical assistance, leak test analysis, authorized user training, 
gauge calibration, and other services.  The RSO reported directly to the President of the 
company.  The company employed approximately 25 individuals, four of whom were 
authorized users of the gauge. 
 
The organizational structure remained stable and without change for the duration of the 
program, beginning when CCE acquired the gauge on October 2, 2005, and continuing 
until the gauge was transferred on October 4, 2010. 
 
On August 8, 2005, the Energy Policy Act (EPAct) was signed into law.  The new law 
expanded the definition of byproduct material to include discrete sources of Ra-226, 
placing this material under the jurisdiction of NRC.  All persons in Puerto Rico who 
possessed discrete sources of radium were to be in compliance with NRC regulations by 
November 30, 2008, including CCE.  Being in compliance meant that such persons were 
responsible for the proper handling, transfer, and disposal of these new byproduct 
materials as specified in NRC regulations.   
 
Through discussions with the RSO, the inspector determined that the RSO had 
contacted the RCCPR in October of 2008 as part of their license renewal process, and 
the RSO was informed by RCCPR that the CCE license for possession and use of the 
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portable gauge was no longer within the authority of RCCPR and, that NRC had authority 
for licensing of the gauge.  The RSO stated that the gauge was in storage while CCE 
evaluated whether to pursue an NRC license or to find a suitable transfer or disposal 
option for the gauge.  The RSO also stated that the decision “took a long time” and that 
transfer of the gauge was delayed while CCE attempted to find an appropriately licensed 
company willing to accept ownership of the gauge.  CCE records indicated that the 
gauge was in storage and was not used after August 21, 2008.  CCE management 
stated that they believed that it was acceptable to possess the gauge during this period 
without a license if the gauge remained in storage and was not used.   

10 CFR 30.3(a) requires, in part, that no person shall manufacture, produce, transfer, 
receive, acquire, own, possess, or use byproduct material except as authorized in a 
specific license issued in accordance with NRC regulations. 

Contrary to the above, from November 30, 2008 through May 26, 2010, and for two 
additional days, June 28 and June 29, 2010, CCE was in the possession of byproduct 
material that was not authorized by a specific or general license issued in accordance 
with the regulations in 10 CFR Part 30 and without being exempt from licensing.  
Specifically, CCE possessed a Seamans Nuclear Corporation moisture density gauge 
containing a Ra-226 sealed source (byproduct material) without authorization by an NRC 
license, an apparent violation of 10 CFR 30.3(a). 

On June 29, 2010, CCE transferred possession of the gauge to their NRC licensed 
consultant.  On October 4, 2010, CCE transferred ownership of the gauge to an 
authorized NRC licensee.  The inspector reviewed CCE’s records of the transfer and 
determined them to be adequate. 
 

c. Conclusions 
  
 One apparent violation of 10 CFR 30.3(a) was identified regarding CCE’s ownership and 

possession of byproduct material without an NRC specific license as required. 
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II. Event Notification Report and Circumstances 

 
 

a. Inspection Scope 
 

The inspector reviewed the temporary loss of a portable nuclear moisture density gauge 
containing Ra-226.  The scope of the inspection included a tour of the temporary field 
office where the gauge had been stored, interviews with representatives from the 
company involved in the possession of the gauge, and the follow-up to the reported loss 
of the gauge.  CCE records, including the NRC Event Notification Report No. 46007 of 
June 14, 2010, and the follow-up 30-day written report to NRC dated July 9, 2010, which 
was received on July 16, 2010, (ML102160136) were also reviewed.   
 
 

b. Observations and Findings 
 

The temporary field office was accessible from PR22 about 1 Kilometer north of 
Guaynabo, near San Juan.  Security for the temporary field office included a six-foot high 
perimeter fence and double locked entry doors which were electronically controlled from 
inside the office.  Security guards patrolled the perimeter during off-hours.  CCE had 
transferred ownership of its gauge prior to this inspection and, therefore, did not own or 
possess radioactive material at the time of this inspection. 
 
The RSO and President stated that between the dates August 21, 2008 and May 26, 
2010, the gauge was stored in the temporary field office and either secured by a 
minimum of two independent physical controls (locked doors) or under the constant 
surveillance and control of the RSO and/or president. 
 
On June 14, 2010, CCE reported to NRC that between the approximate dates of  
May 26, 2010 and June 3, 2010, the gauge was removed from its storage location by 
unauthorized individual(s).  The President stated that although he observed the gauge 
missing from its storage location on June 3, 2010, it was not identified as having been 
unlawfully removed until June 10, 2010, upon completion of an internal investigation.  
CCE also reported that on June 14, 2010, four days after they determined that the gauge 
was stolen, they filed a report with the San Juan Police Department and offered a reward 
for the recovery of the gauge in two local newspapers. CCE also contacted the 
Commonwealth of Puerto Rico, whom informed CCE that it needed to notify the NRC.   
 
On June 28, 2010, CCE notified NRC that the gauge had been recovered.  The 
President of CCE submitted a written report to NRC, dated July 9, 2010, describing the 
details of the event. 
 
During this inspection, the President stated that CCE’s investigation into the event 
revealed that the gauge was most likely stolen on May 26, 2010, during a brief period 
when the stairs leading to the rear entrance of their office were undergoing repair and the 
doors that normally served as the two independent physical controls in accordance with 
10 CFR 30.34(i) were unlocked.  The President further stated that on May 26, 2010, both 
he and the RSO, who normally served as the “constant surveillance and control,” were 



 

 4 Inspection Report No. 99990001/2010003 
C:\FileNET\ML110310504.doc 

out of the office during their lunch hour, and that they suspected the gauge was stolen 
during this brief period of their absence.  They further stated that the breakdown in 
security during this period was due to an oversight on their part.  They believed that the 
doors would be locked or a member of management would be present at all times. 
 
The report stated, and the RSO confirmed during this inspection, that the gauge was 
anonymously returned on June 28, 2010.  Upon the return of the gauge, CCE contacted 
their health physics consultant, and the gauge was transferred to the consultant until 
such time that CCE could identify an authorized NRC licensee willing to accept 
ownership of the gauge.  Its consultant promptly evaluated the physical condition of the 
gauge and determined that the shutter lock was secured and that the gauge was in 
working condition, without physical damage, and all dose rates and leak test results were 
within applicable NRC limits.  The gauge was transferred to an authorized NRC licensee, 
Geo-Cim, Inc., NRC License No. 52-17776-02, on October 4, 2010. 
 
 

c. Conclusions 
 

No violations were identified. NRC informed CCE of the additional NRC requirements 
regarding security for the gauge (10CFR30.34(i)), and for promptly reporting the theft of 
the gauge to NRC (10 CFR 20.2201).  CCE had failed to comply with these 
requirements, however, these safety concerns were not identified as apparent violations, 
because CCE was not an NRC licensee.   
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III. Exit Meeting 

 
 
a. Inspection Scope 
 

The inspection results, including the identified apparent violation, were discussed with 
the President of CCE. 
 

 
b. Observations and Findings 
 

The licensee was informed that documents provided to NRC will be released to the 
public via the NRC website and requested they identify any documents that may include 
proprietary information, personal privacy information, or security related information.  The 
licensee stated that any information discussed or provided may be made available to the 
public.  
 
The inspector reviewed the apparent violation of 10 CFR 30.3 and the corrective actions 
taken by the CCE.  Mr. Carro stated that he agreed with the finding and the statement of 
corrective actions and that he had no further information to provide and did not wish to 
participate in a Predecisional Enforcement Conference. 

 
c. Conclusions 
 

One apparent violation of 10 CFR 30.3(a), regarding CCE’s ownership and possession of 
byproduct material without an NRC license, was identified during this inspection. 
 
NRC informed CCE of additional NRC requirements regarding security for the gauge 
(10CFR30.34(i)), and for promptly reporting the theft of the gauge to NRC (10 CFR 
20.2201).  CCE did not comply with these requirements, however, these safety concerns 
were not identified as apparent violations, because CCE was not an NRC licensee.   
 

 
 
 

LIST OF PERSONS CONTACTED 
 

Licensee 
 
Juan Carro, President #* 
Dawin Lozada, RSO # 
 
# - Attended entrance meeting. 
* - Attended exit meeting (via telephone). 
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